
 

08-04-2014 
 

   

  

  

HAYWOOD COUNTY COMMISSIONERS  

  

REGULAR MEETING – August 4, 2014  

  

CALL TO ORDER  

Chairman Mark S. Swanger convened the regular meeting of the Haywood County Board of 

Commissioners at 9:00 a.m. in the Historic Courtroom at the Haywood County Historic 

Courthouse, Waynesville, North Carolina, with Chairman Mark S. Swanger, Commissioners 

L. Kevin Ensley, Michael T. Sorrells and Bill L. Upton present.  Staff members present were 

County Manager Ira Dove, County Attorney Leon M. “Chip” Killian, III, Finance Director Julie 

Davis, and Public Information Officer David Teague. 

Not present:  Vice-Chairman J.W. “Kirk” Kirkpatrick III; Executive Assistant/Deputy Clerk 

Candace Way. 

  

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  

Chairman Swanger led the Pledge of Allegiance.   

  

INVOCATION  

Commissioner Ensley offered the invocation.  

  

PUBLIC COMMENT SESSION  

Chairman Swanger acknowledged the sale of Haywood Regional Medical Center to Duke 

LifePoint and also offered congratulations to the old state prison renovation team for their 

$50,000 Ty Pennington contest win.     

Chairman Swanger opened the public comment session. Comments are generally limited to 

three minutes per individual, unless the speaker is representing a group for which the 

comment period may be extended to five minutes.  

  

Monroe Miller addressed the board stating that he had met with Dr. Doris Hammett last 

week to discuss the funding formula.  He stated that she sent an email to the Board of 

Education Chairman, Chuck Francis and copied their Board and the Haywood County 

Board of County Commissioners.  He read the email from Dr. Hammett expressing her 

concerns. 

   

CONSTITUENT CONCERNS  

Commissioner Upton stated that we are happy about the hospital sale and also the old state 

prison project and how positive it is for the County. 

 

Commissioner Ensley recognized how excited the people working on the old prison site 

where and how amazing it is the way people come together to make this a positive part of 

our community. 

   

ADMINISTRATIVE/AGENCY REPORTS  

Southwestern Commission Region A update  

Chairman Swanger recognized Region A Executive Director, Ryan Sherby and Sarajane 

Melton, Region A, AAA Director.  In addition to the information provided to the Board for this 

meeting, Mr. Sherby highlighted a few projects:  

 Job profiling with Evergreen Packaging to help position the right employees in the 

right jobs.   

 Revolving loan fund – 1.3 million dollars to loan to local businesses, loaning out 

$325,000 in the last three months.  This has helped to employee approximately 175 

individuals over the life of this fund so far.   

 Facilitation services to boards and organizations - they have been working to ensure 

that the EDC/Chamber of Commerce transition has gone smoothly.  They are 

helping the Chamber of Commerce now with a strategic plan. 

He noted that the organization is owned by the local governments. The seven western 

counties and 17 towns within are due paying members of 75 cents per capita. This is about 

$150,000 a year total.  He noted that the organization averages putting between 6 and 8  

 



 

08-04-2014 
 

 

 

 

 

 

million dollars per year into the region. He concluded that they are a technical resource for 

the area and are also here to help with grants. 

 

Ms. Melton stated that the Agency on Aging does a lot with the older adults in the county, 

acknowledging the support that the Board gives.  She outlined the services they provide to 

the elderly.  She spoke of the Ombudsman who is there to advocate for the residents of 

adult care homes and nursing homes.   

 

Chairman Swanger thanked them both and stated that their services are great contributions 

to the County. 

 

Commissioner Sorrells stated that it has been a pleasure serving on their Board and noted 

that it serves the seven western counties well. 

             

 DISCUSSION / ADJUSTMENT TO AGENDA  

There was no discussion/adjustment to the agenda. 

  

CONSENT AGENDA  

Commissioner Upton made a motion to approve the consent agenda as presented.      

Commissioner Ensley seconded, the motion carried unanimously.  

1. Approval of July 21, 2014 regular meeting minutes.  

2. Approval of settlement of Taxes Collected 2013-2014 – David Francis, Tax Administrator  

     Mr. Francis congratulated the Board on the hospital transition and their work during this  

     period.  He provided the following information: 

 Real estate levy for the year was $36,879,000.  In 2013, the levy was $36,539,000.  

This is a $340,000 increase through construction and additions.  

 Collections - In 2014, $35,749,000 was collected which was an increase of 0.8% 

from 2013. 

 Bankruptcy filings were around $25,000 dollars which is about average.   

  From July through December the County mailed notices due to the delay in the 

VTS system.  There are still collections coming through. The collection rate is 

91.3%. Overall motor vehicle collections were 3.2 million dollars. 

 $1,617,000 was collected on delinquency taxes.  Over $10,000 was collected in 

occupancy tax delinquency.   

 Overall collection rate is 96.67%.   

He encouraged any citizens that are having problems paying their taxes to come and talk to 

him. 

 

Commissioner Upton asked about the satellite tax office in Canton, and Mr. Francis said 

there have been no applications turned in to run this office.  He explained that the 

Department of Motor Vehicles contracts the operations of these offices. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

08-04-2014 
 

3. Budget Amendments – Julie Davis, Finance Director  

a. Community Development - $336,341 - Blue Ridge National Heritage Program  

             Ms. Davis explained that this is state grant funding that is a carryover from   

    the last fiscal year. 

                              
 

       

 

 

b.  Economic Development - $12,414 – Buy Haywood Branding & Marketing 

Ms. Davis explained that this is state grant funding that is also a carryover of 

the last fiscal year.   

 

                                                                                              

 

 

 



 

08-04-2014 
 

 

c. Public Safety - $46,206 – Community Defined Solutions Grant 

Ms. Davis explained that this is a carryover of federal grant funds. 

 

 

 

d. Emergency Management - $28,500 – Hazard Incident Management training 

Ms. Davis explained that this is a federal grant which is a balance from the 

prior year.  She noted that it was just received in June, so most will be spent 

in this current fiscal year. 

 

 

 

 

 

                 

 



 

08-04-2014 
 

 

 

 

 

e. Health & Human Services Agency - $21,717 – Maple Leaf Adult Respite 

Ms. Davis explained that this is a local grant from the Evergreen Foundation.     

 

 

 

             

    

4. Health & Human Services Agency Contracts over $50,000 – Ira Dove, County Manager  

Chairman Swanger recognized County Manager, Ira Dove.  Mr. Dove reviewed the 

following contracts:  

a.  Haywood Vocational Opportunities, Inc. –  $104,000 -  Job Development  

            Services – this is connected to the Work First program which opens up 

            positions to prepare clients for job readiness. 

b. Haywood County Schools - $100,575 – Public Health Nurses 

This is the annual agreement for appropriation of County funds to the 

Health & Human Services Agency to fund Public Health nurses.     

 

Commissioner Upton asked for clarification of the Public Health Nurse funds and Mr. 

Dove stated that this is allotted in the budget.     

 

Chairman Swanger noted that it is something that benefits the school but is outside of 

their normal appropriations.   

                          

 NEW BUSINESS   

Request approval of renewal of lease agreement with the Department of Agriculture 

& Consumer Service for the office space located at Haywood County Agriculture 

Services Center 

Chairman Swanger recognized Ira Dove, County Manager.  Mr. Dove explained that this is 

a three year lease for County owned property that provides office space for the Department 

of Agriculture & Consumer Service, noting that the annual lease agreement is $2145.00.    

 

Chairman Swanger asked Mr. Killian if he had a chance to review the lease and Mr. Killian 

said that he had. 

 



 

08-04-2014 
 

Commissioner Sorrells made a motion to approve the renewal of the lease agreement with 

the Department of Agriculture & Consumer Service for the office space located at the 

Haywood County Agriculture Services Center and it was seconded by Commissioner 

Ensley.  The motion passed unanimously.  

 

Request approval for funding from Governing Body for the Annual Firefighter 

Competition and the Annual Emergency Services Appreciation Dinner 

Chairman Swanger recognized Emergency Management Director, Greg Shuping.  Mr. 

Shuping stated that both of these events started over three years ago by the 

Commissioners and provided a background on both. 

 

Chairman Swanger stated that he and Commissioner Sorrells attended the dinner last year 

and it was a great event.  He encouraged all to go out to the Haywood County Fair and see 

the firefighter competition.  

 

Commissioner Sorrells asked the date of the dinner and Mr. Shuping stated that it was 

September 6th.   

 

Commissioner Upton made a motion to approve the funding for the Annual Firefighter 

Competition in the amount of $500 and the Annual Emergency Services Appreciation 

Dinner in the amount of $2500. Commissioner Ensley seconded and the motion carried 

unanimously.   

 

Update on Francis Farm Landfill – current information concerning cap remediation 

Chairman Swanger recognized Mark Cathey, Sr. Project Manager, McGill & Associates 

Engineering and Stephen King, Solid Waste Director.  Mr. King presented a power point 

providing a history of the compliance of the unlined landfill, and discussed some of the 

issues that the County is facing: 

 Landfill opened in the early 70’s and closed on December 13, 1995. 

 June 2, 1996, received letter from NCDENR requesting County obtain samples 

 October 16, 1997 received letter from NCDENR r.e. “exceedances of ground water 

standards” 

 January 14, 2000, received letter from NCDENR requesting information from the 

1997 letter request.  Also referenced groundwater extending beyond waste boundary 

and adjacent private properties.  Indicated levels of methane exceeded the lower 

explosive limit at property line. Recommended remediation. 

 October 6, 2000, notice of violation of EPA drinking water standards 

 August, 2004, groundwater assessment plan provided by County to NCDENR. 

 2007, contracted McGill & Associates for professional services 

 September 11, 2009, received letter from NCDENR stating County had not 

submitted information r.e. 2004 Groundwater Assessment Monitoring Plan. Began 

working with McGill Associates and BLE to develop a plan 

 October 2009, began work with adjacent property owners 

 November 6, 2009, Construction Plan Approval submitted to NCDENR for gas 

collection and combustion system. 

 December 2009, NCDENR received proposed groundwater well locations 

 March 17, 2010, landfill Gas-to-Energy Facility construction approval granted. 

 July 21, 2010, violations: 15A NCAC 13B.0203 for not complying with conditions of 

permit.  Concentration of methane exceeded the LEL in structure and at property 

boundary 

 August 11, 2011, water supply samples indicated release of volatile organic 

compounds from landfill had not impacted water supply wells 

 August 23, 2011, violations:  15A North Carolina Administrative Code (NCAC) 

13B.0104 Solid Waste Storage.  Construction of LFG system was ongoing. 

 January 2012, ongoing corrective measures: leachate extracted from landfill through 

gas system, landfill flare operational and working six (6) months later. 

 January 2014, past violations status: exceedance of landfill gas at boundary still 

occurring, 15A NCAC 13B.0203(d) failure to comply with conditions of permit for gas 

remediation at property boundary, 15A NCAC 13B.0503(2)(a)(ii) for exceedance of 

LEL for gases at property boundary 

 June 2014, report of groundwater assessment submitted by BLE to NCDENR 



 

08-04-2014 
 

Mr. King noted that residents affected were provided access to Town Water at the County’s 

expense in 2000. 

 

Mr. Cathey referenced the letter that was sent to the Board Chairman dated July 14, 2014. 

He stated that they are awaiting a ruling from NCDENR saying they concur that the 

contaminate plume has been located.  Once that is received they can proceed with the 

corrective measures. He stated that all of the procedures of the corrective measures have 

to be followed.  He stated that there is material available that will help to improve the quality 

of the cap and is a good opportunity for the County to save money.  He noted that 

purchasing additional property could help with the control of landfill gas. 

 

Chairman Swanger asked for an approximation of time to mitigate the damage.  Mr. Cathey 

responded that theoretically if the issues can be resolved facing the County, three to five 

years from now the situation will be much better.  He stated that a new cap will greatly help 

the situation.  He noted that the new cap will take approximately 100,000 cubic yards of 

cover material. The cap can consist of a synthetic liner, utilizing the soil that is there, and a 

protective component on that. 

 

Commissioner Ensley commented that what will be done essentially is cutting off the 

moisture to the landfill and Mr. Cathey concurred. 

 

Commissioner Upton asked about the size of the cap and Mr. Cathey responded that it is 

about 20 acres.  

 

Chairman Swanger stated that although the $1,000,000 grant has helped, the County has 

had to spend more money to work on this issue and this will have to be kept in mind as the 

County moves forward. 

 

Commissioner Ensley stated that this opportunity has presented itself now to get the 

additional material and it is something that the County needs to take advantage of. 

 

Commissioner Sorrells noted that all the County is doing is up to DENR specifications and 

that this is going in the direction that they want the County to go and Mr. Cathey concurred. 

 

Commissioner Ensley noted that other counties have the same issues with their landfills 

and Mr. Cathey agreed. 

 

Request consideration of purchase of real property of Shelton Living Trust: Track 10 

PIN#8626-21-7591, Deed Book/Page 775/1145 off Farmview Rd., Waynesville, NC 

Chairman Swanger recognized County Manager, Ira Dove.  Mr. Dove said that the 

consideration of this purchase is due to the gas migration onto the properties and the close 

proximity of the boundaries.  He noted that it would solve the potential easement issues for 

work on the landfill. This will create a larger buffer for potential issues with the landfill.  It 

could also be used for a staging area to store materials. The property currently is in a living 

Trust, and he stated that the proposed price is $200,000. 

  

Chairman Swanger noted that this will only solve a portion of the encroachment issue and 

other property may have to be acquired. 

 

Commissioner Upton inquired if the cap would keep the County from having to buy 

additional property in the future and Chairman Swanger stated that all of what is being done 

is connected and part of the plan. 

 

Commissioner Sorrells noted that what the County is proposing to do may help to prevent 

any further issues and Mr. Cathey agreed. 

 

Mr. Killian stated that we have an option and a contract and should be ready to close on the 

contract.   

 

A motion was made by Commissioner Ensley to purchase the real property of Shelton 

Living Trust as described.  The motion was seconded by Commissioner Upton and passed 

unanimously. 

 



 

08-04-2014 
 

Request permission to accept bid and enter contract with NHM Constructors, LLC for 

hauling and site preparation at Francis Farm Landfill for cap maintenance 

Chairman Swanger recognized County Manager, Ira Dove.  Mr. Dove stated that NHM 

received the winning bid for the Paragon Parkway road work and will be removing 

approximately 250,000 cubic yards of dirt from that area.  He noted that they will be able to   

haul the dirt to the site, build a road and do erosion control at the site for a total of 

approximately $390,000. He stated that a portion may be reimbursable from the 

Department of Transportation for erosion control. This bid and contract could save the 

County up to one million dollars.   

 

Chairman Swanger noted that this company had won the contract with DOT for the Paragon 

Parkway project, so they can do it for this low amount. They have the dirt and have to do 

something with it. 

 

Commissioner Sorrells stated that he is familiar with cost of grading and hauling and this 

cost is a very cheap price.   

 

Chairman Swanger asked Mr. Killian if he had reviewed this and Mr. Killian stated that he 

had. 

 

Mr. Dove confirmed with Chairman Swanger that he had met with Dr. Garrett from the 

Haywood County Schools and had received their commitment of cooperation and 

permission to work on the remediation of the landfill since they own some of this property. 

 

A motion was made by Commissioner Upton to accept the bid for haul of $300,000 and 

enter a contract with NHM Constructors, LLC for additional site preparation costs which will 

be determined by negotiations and was seconded by Commissioner Ensley.  The motion 

passed unanimously. 

     

Budget amendment – Solid Waste Management Fund - $200,000 

Chairman Swanger recognized Finance Director, Julie Davis.  Ms. Davis explained that this 

is an appropriation of the fund balance in the Solid Waste Special Revenue fund for the 

property purchase at the Francis Farm landfill. 

 

A motion was made by Commissioner Ensley to approve the budget amendment in the 

amount of $200,000 for the property purchase.  The motion was seconded by 

Commissioner Sorrells and passed unanimously. 

 

                          
                   

 



 

08-04-2014 
 

Budget amendment – Solid Waste Management Fund - $390,000 

Chairman Swanger recognized Finance Director, Julie Davis.  Ms. Davis explained that this 

is an appropriation of the fund balance in the Solid Waste Special Revenue fund for 

material hauling and other work at the Francis Farm landfill. 

 

A motion was made by Commissioner Ensley to approve the budget amendment in the 

amount of $390,000 for material hauling and additional work at the Francis Farm landfill.  

The motion was seconded by Commissioner Upton and passed unanimously. 

 

                    
 

Commissioner Upton commented that the County has had to spend a lot of money and 

hopes that we can see an end as this proceeds, noting that we need to be good neighbors. 

         

             

ADJOURNMENT  

Chairman Swanger asked if there was any further business.  

   

Commissioner Upton made a motion to adjourn the regular Board meeting.  Commissioner 

Ensley seconded; the motion carried unanimously.  

  

The time of adjournment was 10:29 a.m.  The DVD is attached by reference to the minutes.   

  

  

  

                   ______________________________________ 

          CLERK            CHAIRMAN  

  

                               

  

  

   

  

  

 


